2010

Layne Jex v. Precision Excavating and/or Owners Insurance Co. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

This appellate review proceeding arises from the Utah Labor Commission's denial of workers' compensation benefits in Layne Jex's case. The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction over this proceeding pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 63G-4-403(1).

ISSUE PRESENTED AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

Issue No. 1: Whether the Labor Commissioner erred in determining Jex's vehicle was not an "instrumentality-of-the-business" where Jex shuttled employees to and from a remote worksite under directions of Precision Excavation; regularly transported tools in his truck to the worksite; used them at the worksite; and was required to use his truck to run errands for Precision.

Standard of Review: Questions as to whether the Labor Commissioner properly applied the facts under the "instrumentality-of-the-business" doctrine in determining whether an employee was injured in the "course and scope of employment" are subject to a correction of error standard. *Nucor Corp. v. State Tax Comm'n* 832 P.2d 1294, 1296 (Utah 1992); *Cross v. Indus. Comm'n* 824 P.2d 1202 (Ut. Ct. App. 1992).

Preservation of the Issue at the Administrative Agency Proceeding: This issue was preserved in Petitioner's Motion for Review. (R. at 39 – 50.)

DETERMINATIVE LAWS

UTAH CONST. Art. I, §7

"No person shall be deprived of life, liberty or property, without due process of law."

UTAH CONST. Art. II, §11

“All courts shall be open, and every person, for an injury done to him in his person, property or reputation, shall have remedy by due course of law, which shall be administered without denial or unnecessary delay; and no person shall be barred from prosecuting or defending before any tribunal in this State, by himself or counsel, any civil cause to which he is a party.”

UTAH CODE ANN. § 34A-2-401:

“Compensation for industrial accidents to be paid.

(1) an employee described in Section 34A-2-104 who is injured. . . by accident arising out of and in the course of the employee’s employment, wherever such injury occurred, . . . shall be paid:

- (a) compensation for loss sustained on account of the injury or death;
- (b) the amount provided in this chapter for [medical expenses].”

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Layne Jex was hired by Precision Excavation in St. George as a heavy equipment operator to work in the St. George area, specifically operating a track hoe. Sometime after employment began with Precision, Precision took a job some 60 minutes away on the East side of Cedar City up Cedar Canyon. Precision provided transportation for some of their employees, but as they did not have enough vehicles, some of the employees were required to provide their own transportation to the Cedar Canyon job site. Jex, on occasion, was shuttled by Precision. If there was not enough room in the Precision vehicle he would take his own truck.

Precision directed Jex to take one employee to the job site on a routine basis, a fellow by the name of Nick. Jex did not like Nick personally, had no car-pooling arrangement with Nick, received no funds from Nick or his employer for transporting Nick, but solely transported Nick at the direction of his employer. Specifically, Jex was instructed to pick up Nick at a designated pick up spot in St. George. If Nick did not show up within 10 minutes of the designated time, Jex was told he was then free to proceed to Cedar for the morning's work.

In addition to using his truck to transport employees to and from the Cedar Canyon job site, Jex's truck was used to run errands to and from the job site. Furthermore, Jex used his own tools from his truck on a regular basis. He had an excavation level he would use almost daily, hammers, pipe wrenches, crescent wrenches, shovels, chains, a hitch, tape measure and other hand tools which were used on the job site. He also kept hydraulic fluid and grease in his vehicle for routine maintenance for the heavy equipment. Precision's only witness, Trent Holden, Jex's supervisor, testified that Jex would be required to walk a distance somewhere between 400 and 3,000 yards one way if he wanted to use Precision's tools or oils rather than his own. This is the manner in which Precision customarily required the use of Jex's truck.

On the night of the accident, Jex was preparing to leave the Cedar City worksite when he noticed that another employee did not have his car on the worksite. Jex asked Holden if he should drive James Irvin back to St. George. Holden told Jex to ask Irvin if he needed a ride. Thereafter, Jex was transporting Irvin to drop him off at the meeting

spot designated by Precision Excavating. Before they arrived at that meeting point, Jex suffered injuries in a one car rollover.

Because the workers' compensation carrier (hereinafter, "Precision") denied compensability for the accident based on the "going and coming" rule, Jex filed an Application for Hearing on August 19, 2008. An evidentiary hearing was held before Administrative Law Judge Cheryl Luke (the "ALJ") on February 26, 2009 in Parowan, Utah. (R. at 31.) The parties put on evidence, consisting of the Medical Records Exhibit and the testimony of Layne Jex and Trent Holden, who testified on behalf of Precision. (R. at 31 – 32.) On May 28, 2009, the ALJ issued "Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order" where she concluded that Jex was not in the course and scope of his employment at the time of the accident based on the "going and coming" rule since Jex was "not on the clock" when the accident happened and denied Jex's application for benefits.

Jex timely filed a Motion for Review challenging the ALJ's findings of fact to the extent they relied on hearsay in violation of the residuum rule. Jex further challenged the ALJ's conclusions as she failed to consider the nature of Precision's use of Jex's truck as an instrumentality of the business. On or about July 29, 2010, the Labor Commissioner filed her "Order Affirming ALJ's Decision" where she adopted the findings of the ALJ and denied benefits based on the "going and coming" rule without any analysis whatsoever as to whether Jex's truck was and instrumentality of the business at the time of the accident.

Jex timely filed a Notice of Appeal of the Commissioner's decision and this appeal follows. For the reasons set forth below, Jex submits that the Commissioner's decision is

inadequate as a matter of law where she failed to consider the actual relationship between Precision and Jex and Precision's use of Jex's truck in violation of the required analysis set forth in *Moser v. Industrial Commission*, 440 P.2d 23 (Utah 1968). As such, Jex respectfully requests that the Labor Commissioner's decision be reversed and remanded for consideration of the applicable facts and a reasoned decision as required by Utah law.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. Layne William Jex (hereinafter "Jex") worked as a heavy equipment operator and laborer for Respondent Precision Excavation on the date of the industrial accident. Jex earned \$880.00 per week and worked 50 hours per week. (R. at 32.)¹

2. Jex was hired by Precision Excavation in St. George, Utah and worked on jobs in that area. During July, 2008, Precision Excavation had a construction project in Cedar City, Utah. (R. at 32.)

3. During Jex's employment with Precision Excavating, he carried tools in his truck to and from job sites which he used to carry out his employment duties. Jex had a tape measure, a large pipe and crescent wrench that he used to work on some of the equipment at the job site, a sledge hammer, a homemade "level" device which he had specifically modified for use on the Cedar City job at his supervisor Trent Holden's

¹ In this case, the Labor Commissioner adopted the ALJ's Findings of Fact. As such, the citations in the Statement of Fact are to the ALJ's Findings of Fact.

request, and some machinery fluids that belonged to his employer and were used in some of the equipment that he used at the job site. Jex carried these tools to and from the job site in Cedar City and had them in his truck on the date of the accident. (R. at 33.)

4. Trent Holden, Jex's supervisor, was the only witness who testified on behalf of Respondents, was paid \$250.00 for his in Court appearance². (R. at 32, R. 74 at 108.)

5. Holden testified that Jex "could have" used tools off the company truck in order to perform his job. (R. at 34.)

6. Although the ALJ neglected to mention this, Holden initially testified that in order for Jex to use the tools off the company truck, Jex would have to walk approximately 3,000 yards. Holden later testified that this distance would be approximately 400 yards. In other words, Jex would have to walk somewhere between one-quarter and two miles each way every time he needed to get a tool off the company truck from where he was working. (R. 74 at 94, 125.)

7. Jex also had some machinery fluids, such as grease and hydraulic fluid, that belonged to Precision for his use in maintaining some of Precision's equipment where Jex was working at the Cedar City worksite. (R. at 33.)

² The Labor Commissioner fails to make note of this fact. At the time of the hearing the ALJ indicated that she viewed that as simply a per diem and it was of no import to her. However, the fact that a lay witness was being compensated to appear in court above the statutorily mandated witness fees raises serious questions about the reliability of Holden's testimony and Jex respectfully submits that it was incumbent on the Labor Commissioner to take that into account in considering the testimony.

8. While working on the Cedar Canyon job, Precision Excavating relied on the use of Jex's truck to run errands, such as going to NAPA Auto Parts store and Wheeler machinery in Hurricane to get needed parts for Precision Excavating equipment. Holden testified that he simply did not discuss whether Jex should use the company truck or his own for those errands. Holden further testified that he was aware the Jex was taking his own truck to run these errands. (R. at 34, R. 74 at 104 - 105.)

9. The Cedar City worksite had two Precision trucks, one was a fuel truck which remained on site and the other was the company truck which Holden drove back and forth between St. George and Cedar City. (R. 74 at 60 - 61.)

10. Precision Excavating further relied on the use of Jex's truck when it was used to move a company compressor from one area to another at the job site because Jex's truck had a hitch on it. (R. at 34.)

11. Trent Holden undertook the responsibility of providing transportation for Precision Excavating employees to the Cedar City jobsite. Holden picked employees up at a designated meeting site and offered transportation on a first-come-first-served basis, but did not pay them for their travel time to and from the job site. (R. at 32-33.)

12. Jex met at the designated meeting place for travel to the Cedar City job and sometimes rode up with Holden in the company truck but drove his own truck the majority of the time. (R. at 32.)

13. The ALJ's Findings of Fact state, "On occasion, Trent asked the petitioner to wait a bit longer for a chronically late employee named, Nick. Trent asked the petitioner

to wait an additional ten minutes to see if Nick arrived and then Nick would ride to the job with petitioner.” (R. at 33.)

14. However, the record provides additional information:

- a. Holden testified that he told Jex to wait for Nick at Precision’s designated meeting spot until five minutes after six before he could go ahead and leave for the Cedar City worksite. (R. 74 at 124.)
- b. Jex was transporting Nick from the meeting point to the Cedar City worksite approximately three times per week. (R. 74 at 23 - 24.)

15. Jex did not know Nick except through work and Nick did not share gas expenses. (R. at 33.)

16. In fact, Jex did not like Nick. He transported him because Holden had told him to. (R. 74 at 24 - 25.)

17. Although Holden testified that he indicated that “the employees could try and coordinate with each other to get to the job site,” he undertook to arrange transportation for his employees by furnishing the company truck as a shuttle and arranging for Jex to transport additional Precision Excavation employees. (R. at 32-33.)

18. Jex testified that he thought it was a job requirement for him to help with transporting employees between the meeting spot and the Cedar City worksite, because Holden told him to transport Nick on a regular, on-going basis and he was required to wait for at least ten minutes before he could leave Nick, if Nick did not show up. (R. 74 at 52.)

19. At the end of the workday on July 22, 2008, Jex was preparing to drive back to St. George from the Cedar City job. He noticed that another Precision Excavation employee, James Irvin, was still on the worksite. (R. at 33.)

20. Jex did not know Irvin and had never transported him between St. George and Cedar City before. (R. 74 at 28 - 29.)

21. Jex asked Holden whether he should drive Irvin back to St. George. Holden instructed Jex to see if Irvin needed a ride, which Jex did at which point Irvin rode back to St. George with Jex. (R. at 33.)

22. Holden testified that Jex could have opted not to drive Irvin back to St. George on the day of the accident and that Irvin did not know he had a choice to stay later at the Cedar City job or go back with Jex. However, Irvin was not present at the hearing and did not offer testimony concerning the circumstances under which he accepted a ride back to St. George with Jex. (R. at 33, 31.)³

23. In offering the hearsay statement of Irvin, Holden first testified that Irvin came up to Holden the day after the accident to complain about having not been able to stay on the worksite longer the night before. Although Jex and Irvin had been involved in a serious truck accident that put Jex in the hospital, Holden testified that Irvin's conversation the day following the accident was not about the accident, or to ask how Jex was doing, but

³ As discussed in Section B of the Argument, it was improper for the ALJ to rely on the hearsay statements that "Mr. Irvin did not know he had a choice to stay later." As that was not supported by a residuum of competent evidence.

only to complain about the circumstances of leaving the worksite with Jex. (R. 74 at 116 - 118.)

24. While Jex was returning to St. George on July 22, 2008, his truck rolled, causing injury to Jex, including fractures at two places in his spine. (R. at 33.)

25. At the time of the accident, Jex was en route to drop Irvin off at Irvin's vehicle. (R. 74 at 60.)

26. On or about May 28, 2009, the ALJ issued Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order denying workers' compensation benefits to Jex based on the "going and coming" rule, concluding the use of Jex's truck and tools did not benefit Precision. (R. at 31-38.)

27. On or about June 26, 2009, Jex filed a Motion for Review where he challenged the ALJ's factual findings to the extent that she relied on hearsay statements of Irvin that were not supported by a residuum of competent evidence. Jex further challenged the ALJ's conclusion that he was not acting in the course and scope of his employment at the time of the accident where the ALJ failed to analyze the actual manner in which Precision used Jex's truck as opposed to Holden's after-the-fact testimony that Jex "could have" refused to use his truck for transporting employees or bringing his own tools. Jex argued that the appropriate legal standard required the ALJ to consider the actual state of the facts rather than speculate about what Jex's employment relationship "could have" been. Jex argued that based on the ALJ's factual findings, the actual

dealings between Precision and Jex established a customary reliance on Jex's truck. (R. at 39-50.)

28. On July 29, 2010, Utah Labor Commissioner Sherrie Hayashi issued an Order Affirming ALJ's Decision adopting the ALJ's Findings of Fact, including those which were solely based on hearsay, and denying workers' compensation benefits based solely on the fact that Jex was driving on his way home at the time of the accident and that he was not paid for that drive time. In so doing, the Labor Commissioner, like the ALJ, ignored the realities of the employment relationship between Jex and Precision Excavating based on the largely undisputed evidence presented at the hearing. (R. at 70 – 72.)

29. It is from the Labor Commissioner's Order Affirming ALJ's Decision to deny workers' compensation benefits, which Petitioner appeals.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

The ALJ's factual findings, which the Commissioner adopted, establish a course of dealing between Precision and Jex where Precision relied on Jex to use his truck to transport Precision employees between a designated meeting spot and the worksite, to use his own tools at the worksite, which he hauled back and forth from the worksite in his truck, to run errands on company time, and to store company materials for Jex's use on the worksite. Notwithstanding these findings, the Commissioner denied workers'

compensation benefits for Jex's accident based solely on the facts that Jex was driving on his way home from the work site and that he was not paid for that drive time.

Under *Moser v. Industrial Comm'n*, 440 P.2d 23 (Utah 1968), the Labor Commission is required to examine the actual dealings between the employer and employee concerning the use of an employee's vehicle in considering whether an accident happened within the course of employment. Indeed, the *Moser* court reversed a Labor Commission ruling that applied the "going and coming" rule to deny benefits without considering the manner in which the employer used Moser's truck. *Id.*

The fact of the matter is that Precision required the use of Jex's truck when it undertook to furnish transportation for its employees from a meeting point designated by Precision to the Cedar City worksite. Precision further required the use of Jex's truck for the purpose of running errands, having Jex bring his own personal tools to the worksite, and storing on Jex's truck company materials to maintain company equipment while Jex was on the job. Under the legal standard established by *Moser*, it was error for the Commissioner to reach a decision without engaging in this analysis.

In addition, the purely hearsay testimony which Precision attempted to introduce that James Irvin did not want to leave the worksite when Jex was leaving on the night of the accident was not proper for the Commission to consider under the residuum rule. The ALJ's reliance on this testimony was prejudicial to Jex and violates due process and open courts under the Utah Constitution. Similarly, it was error for the ALJ to consider as evidence Holden's testimony as to what Jex "could have" done to not allow Precision to

benefit from the use of Jex's truck. As a matter of fact, Holden's own testimony established that despite what the company "could have done," there was an implicit course of dealing between Precision and Jex that relied upon the use of Jex's truck.

Under Utah law, injuries that occur on the way to or coming home from work are compensable when the transportation is furnished by the employer for the employer's benefit. *State v. Indus. Comm'n*, 685 P.2d 1051 (Utah 1984). Moreover, as a general matter of law, the "going and coming" rule will apply between an employee's home and a "check-in" point established by an employer, but once travel commences after that meeting point. See, *Larson's Workers' Compensation Law Section 14.02*. In this case, Precision Excavating undertook to furnish the transportation of its employees from a designated meeting point to the Cedar City worksite. Precision even made accommodation for a chronically late employee by directing Jex to wait at that meeting spot for this employee and instructing Jex that he could leave after he had waited a certain amount of time.

Based on these facts, Precision was furnishing transportation to its worksite and was relying on the use of Jex's truck to do so. This reliance became customary as the undisputed evidence showed that Jex drove this late employee to the worksite approximately three times per week. Moreover, once on the worksite, Precision relied on Jex to bring his truck so that he could use his own tools closer to the worksite than the tools on the company truck, which were somewhere between one-quarter and two miles away from where Jex was working. Precision likewise had Jex run special errands on company time in Jex's own truck.

Under *Bailey v. Utah State Indus. Comm'n*, 398 P.2d 545 (Utah 1965), an employee's vehicle is an instrumentality of the business when that employee is required to bring his vehicle to work whether it be because his vehicle is transporting tools that the employee needs or for the use of the vehicle itself. Based on the law and the undisputed evidence established at the hearing, Jex's vehicle was an instrumentality of Precision's business both for transporting employees from a designated meeting point to the Cedar City worksite, but also for bringing tools and supplying company material to allow Jex to work more efficiently at his worksite rather than walk some distance back and forth to the company truck every time he needed a tool.

However, because the Commissioner declined to analyze the manner in which Precision relied on and benefited from the use of Jex's truck, its decision is inadequate as a matter of law. Moreover, the undisputed evidence based on the actions of the parties establishes that Jex's truck was indeed an instrumentality of Precision's business and the Commission should have found that Jex was injured in the course of his employment when he was transporting a co-employee from the worksite back to the designated meeting spot at the time of the accident.

ARGUMENT

THE COMMISSIONER'S CONCLUSION THAT JEX WAS "OFF THE CLOCK" WHEN THE ACCIDENT OCCURRED IS IRRELEVANT BECAUSE JEX'S TRUCK WAS AN "INSTRUMENTALITY" OF PRECISION'S BUSINESS.

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