2010

Layne Jex v. Precision Excavating and/or Owners Insurance Company, and Utah Labor Commission : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Commission's Order should be affirmed. The going and coming rule squarely applies to the facts of this case. Contrary to Mr. Jex's assertion, no exception to this rule applies.

The employer did not require Mr. Jex to perform any job-related service or use his personal vehicle as a business instrumentality while traveling to or from work. Mr. Jex was not on a company related "special errand" or "special mission" at the time of the accident.² Mr. Jex was not compensated for his time spent traveling between his home and the job site, and he was not paid a gas stipend. The employer did not regulate how Mr. Jex maintained or drove his own vehicle. The accident did not occur on the employer's premises, nor did Mr. Jex's duties require him to be at the place where the accident occurred. The risk that caused the accident was one common to the traveling public (a defective tire on Jex's personal vehicle which Mr. Jex personally maintained) and was not created by any duties connected with Mr. Jex's employment. Mr. Jex was not under the control or supervision of his employer at the time of the accident. He had chosen his own route each day, and had done so at

² The transportation of a co-employee home was not mandated by the employer as a job duty. Moreover, Mr. Jex was not compensated for this travel. Hence, this activity does not qualify as a special errand or mission.

the time of the accident. It was not a benefit to the employer for Mr. Jex to ride home from the job site with a co-worker. Respondent, Precision Excavating did not require Mr. Jex to take home a fellow co-worker on the date of the accident, nor did the employer mandate that Mr. Jex use his own vehicle for transportation to and from the job site. Mr. Jex could have car-pooled with other co-workers, but he voluntarily chose not to do so.

The Commission was also correct to note that finding of compensability under the present facts of this case makes little sense and would essentially eviscerate the going and coming rule. Simply because a worker may carry with him a tool that could be used for work (i.e., a favorite business pen or other article), or in this case a few miscellaneous tools similarly used by many individuals in non-employment settings, or that the injured worker elects to ride to or from work with a fellow co-worker, does not unilaterally overcome the general going and coming rule.

Moreover, contrary to Mr. Jex's argument, it is Mr. Jex's burden to show, by a preponderance of evidence, that his case falls within the exception of the going and coming rule. It is not Respondent's burden to prove otherwise. Since Mr. Jex has failed to do so, and has failed to

show any reversible error, this Court should affirm the Commission's Order, deny Mr. Jex's claim for workers' compensation benefits, and dismiss his Application for Hearing with prejudice.

ARGUMENT

THE COMMISSION PROPERLY RULED THAT COMPENSABILITY FOR THIS ACCIDENT IS BARRED BY THE GOING AND COMING RULE

Mr. Jex challenges the Commission's Order Affirming ALJ's Decision. He argues that the Commission, like the ALJ, improperly denied his claims for worker compensation benefits since his accident is subject to exception from the going- and- coming rule. He argues that his personal vehicle was an instrumentality of the employer's business and, therefore, is an exception to the going and coming rule. Respondents disagree that any exception to the going and coming rule applies and submit that both the ALJ and the Commission properly evaluated this case and denied workers' compensation benefits to Mr. Jex under the well-established going-and- coming rule.

In Utah, to be eligible for workers' compensation benefits, an employee's injury must, "arise out of" and be sustained "in the course of employment". Utah Code Ann. § 34A-2-401. As a general rule in Utah, an employee's injury does not arise out of and occur in the course of employment if the injury is sustained while going to or coming from work

since these injuries are outside the time, space, and activity boundaries of work. See Drake v. Industrial Comm'n of Utah, 939 P.2d 177 (Utah 1997); VanLeeuwen v. Indus. Comm'n, 901 P.2d 281, 284 (Utah Ct. App. 1995). The coming-and-going rule arose because, "in most instances, such an injury is suffered as a consequence of the risks and hazards to which all members of the traveling public are subject rather than risks and hazards having to do with and originating in the work or business of the employer." Drake, 939 P.2d at 182 (quoting 82 Am. Jur. 2d Workers' Compensation § 296 (1992)).

In support of the "going and coming" rule, the Utah Supreme Court has reasoned that:

The major premise of the "going and coming" rule is that it is unfair to impose unlimited liability on an employer for conduct of its employees over which it has no control and from which it derives no benefit. Therefore, the major focus in determining whether or not the general rule should apply in a given case is on the benefit the employer receives and his control over the conduct.

Cross v. Board of Review, 824 P.2d 1202 (Utah Ct. App. 1992).

Professor Larson indicates that this general rule typically applies to employees having fixed hours of employment and place of work, known as "inside employees". "Outside employees" are characterized as employees that do not have a definite time and space boundary on their

employment. See Professor Larson treatise on worker's compensation at 13.01. Utah's courts have explained that easier cases involve inside employees. However, in more difficult cases, when the journey is relatively regular, whether every day, or at frequent intervals, the case begins **with a strong presumption that an employee's going-and-coming trip is expected to be no different than any other employee with reasonably regular hours and place of work.** See Drake, 939 P.2d at 183. (emphasis added).

In this case, the ALJ found that the motor vehicle accident in which Mr. Jex was involved, did not arise out of and in the course of Mr. Jex's employment due to the application of the going and coming rule. The ALJ explains her rationale in detail as follows:

In this case the petitioner argues that the transportation of co-workers both to and from the job site, the carrying and use of personal tools at the job site and the two time use of his vehicle to run a company errand are sufficient to sustain a finding of compensability.

Careful analysis of the facts in this case even when liberally construed in favor of the petitioner demonstrates otherwise. It was clear when the job was offered that it was the employee's responsibility to get to and from work (the traditional going and coming). When there was not work in St. George the employees were given an option of working at the Cedar City job site. The company would offer to shuttle over workers in the one truck that was assigned to the job site supervisor. The shuttle was offered on a first come basis and employees were not going to be paid for travel time or

expenses. In VanLeeuwen v Industrial Commission, 901 P.2d 281,284 (Utah App. 1995) we find that the general rule of non-compensability has an exception in situations where the employer provides transportation primarily for the employer's own benefit and exercises control over the use of that transportation. Under Utah law the major focus in determining whether or not the general rule should apply in a given case is on the benefit the employer receives and his control over the conduct of the employee. In this case Mr. Jex made a choice to drive his own vehicle for his own reasons including not being around smokers. The employer did not exercise any control over what days Mr. Jex drove, what vehicle he used, what routes he took to and from work. The loose cooperation between Mr. Jex in offering rides to other co-workers was not mandated by the employer. On the date of the accident Mr. Jex **offered** the ride to his co-worker and his communication with Mr. Holden is best described as informational communication, not employer instructions. In some cases getting a crew or other workers **to** the job might be of benefit to the employer. The trip in question only benefitted Mr. James and Mr. Jex who wanted to travel home from work like any other employee. There is no indication that had Mr. Jex not offered a ride to Mr. James that Mr. Holden and Precision Excavation's work would have been in anyway hindered as Mr. Holden was ready and able to give Mr. James a ride home. Indeed Mr. Holden testified that he told Mr. Jex to see **if** Mr. James wanted to leave or continue working. Mr. Jex botched the message and didn't communicate it in a way that gave Mr. James the option of working late which may have benefitted the employer.

Can Mr. Jex make his car an instrumentality of employment unilaterally? Clearly Mr. Jex used some of his own tools at the job and carried them in his truck. The convincing evidence is that this was not a job requirement, and was not necessary (he worked without problem on the days he rode with Mr. Holden and did not have access to the tools). The going and coming rule would be eviscerated if an employee could choose to bring something to work) a favorite pen for example (and unilaterally overcome the rule.

The third exception that is suggested by petitioner is that he was running a special errand for the company. They point to the trips to NAPA auto parts and Wheeler Machinery and then try to argue that giving James a ride home is similar. The NAPA and Wheeler errands were on company time during the work day and certainly if this accident had occurred while coming and going to get parts on those errands we would not be debating compensability. The accident in fact occurred off the clock on the employee's way home. This is the traditional coming and going situation and compensability is not proven.

The major premise of the "going and coming" rule is that it is unfair to impose unlimited liability on an employer for conduct of its employees over which it has no control and from which it derives no benefit Cross v Brd. of Review Indus. Comm'n, 824 P.2d 1202 (Ut. Ct App).

In this case the petitioner has not proven that he was any different then any other employee driving to and from a work place and ride-sharing with co-workers as a mutual convenience. Mr. Jex carried some personal tools that he could and did use at the job site but he was not required to do so and the company provided all necessary tools at the job site. Lastly Mr. Jex was on his way home and not under the control, direction or of benefit to his employer at the time of the accident. There has been no proof that supports a finding in the petitioner's favor under any exception to the going and coming rule.

I find that the petitioner has failed to meet his burden of proof that the accident and injuries suffered in the motor vehicle accident on July 22, 2008 arose out of and in the course of his employment.

(R., 31-38).

The Commission agreed with the ALJ and found that while Mr. Jex's truck twice served to benefit Respondent, Precision Excavating's business, in order to be exempt from the going and coming rule, Mr. Jex

must show that his truck served as an instrumentality to benefit Respondent, Precision Excavating's business at the time of the accident. The Commission further explained, that at the time of the accident, Mr. Jex was ridesharing with a co-worker out of convenience, not because Respondent, Precision Excavating mandated he do so. The Commission further explained that the employer did not pay Mr. Jex for his travel costs or provide any transportation to him at the time of the accident. Accordingly, the Commission found no control by the employer or benefit to the employer sufficient to exempt Mr. Jex from the traditional going and coming rule standard.

Respondents submit that the ALJ and Commission's findings and application of the law in this case should be affirmed by this Court.

A. The ALJ and Commission Correctly Determined that Mr. Jex's Truck Was Not An Instrumentality of Business.

Mr. Jex argues that an exception to the going and coming rule applies since he was using his personal vehicle as an, "instrumentality of business" for the employer at the time of the motor vehicle accident. He cites to a variety of cases in an attempt to support this position. Respondents disagree with Mr. Jex's argument and assert that the ALJ / Commission's finding that Mr. Jex's accident, occurring in his personal

vehicle on his way home from work, is barred by the going and coming rule.³

Mr. Jex relies on VanLeeuwen v. Industrial Comm'n, 901 P.2d 281 (Utah Ct. App. 1995) to support his argument. However, VanLeewen, actually supports the denial of benefits in this case. In VanLeewen, the Court found that the claimant's motor vehicle accident on his way to work did not arise out of and in the course of employment despite driving a company-owned truck. The court held that the going and coming rule has some exceptions, such as where, "the employer **requires** the employee to use a vehicle as an instrumentality of the business." The court stressed, however, that the circumstances did not bring Mr. VanLeewen's motor vehicle accident within the course of employment since: 1) the employer did not require him to perform any job-related service or use the company vehicle as a business instrumentality while traveling to or from work; 2) he was not on any company related "special errand" or "special mission" at the time of the accident; 3) he was not being compensated for his time spent traveling between his home and

³ In Barney v. Industrial Comm'n, 506 P.2d 1271 (Utah 1973) the court stated the general rule that – ordinarily, an employee is not within the scope of employment when he furnishes his own transportation and is injured when going to or from his place of employment. Such is the case here.

the employer's office; 4) the accident did not occur on the employer's premises, nor did VanLeeuwen's duties require him to be at the place where the accident occurred; 5) the risk that caused the accident was one common to the traveling public and was not created by duties connected with his employment; and, 6) VanLeewen was not under the control or supervision of the employer at the time of the accident, had chosen his own route each day, and occasionally engaged in personal errands while traveling to and from work.

Mr. Jex also cites Bailey v. Utah State Indus. Comm'n, 398 P.2d 545 (Utah 1965). In Bailey, an employee was involved in a fatal car accident when driving his own vehicle to his work – a service station. However, in Bailey the court held that the personal vehicle was an instrumentality of business since it was used by the employee for emergency calls at all hours; the employee was required to carry necessary tools to service and repair customer's automobiles; the employee permitted customers to use this vehicle when their cars were being serviced; and the employee was reimbursed by the employer for all oil and gas charges for the vehicle. There the court held that it was the employee's regular and definite duty to take the vehicle to work at the

service station in the mornings for its use in that business. The Bailey case can be distinguished from the case at bar.

Mr. Jex further cites to Moser v. Industrial Commission, 440 P.2d 23 (Utah 1968). In Moser, the court held that a claimant's motor vehicle accident which occurred when pouring gasoline into his truck, was compensable. In Moser, the employer owed the truck but leased it back to the employee. The court held that the status of the truck in that instance was, "the same as if it had belonged to the company" since it was "committed to being used in defendant's business." Additionally the employee in the Moser case was under the direction of the employer to follow specific maintenance guidelines, including reporting of any service work needed.

Mr. Jex also cites to State v. Industrial Comm'n, 685 P.2d 1051 (Utah 1984) to argue that an injury is compensable when transportation is furnished by the employer to benefit the employer. In State, the court evaluated whether a workers' motor vehicle accident was compensable when she was on her way to a job related training program from her usual place of employment. There, the court found the claim compensable under the "special errand" exception since Petitioner's employer benefitted from her training program, she embarked with the

knowledge and at the direction of the employer and such travel was directly related to her job function. See id. at 1054-55.

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